FILED
June 19, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I

NO. 72359-6-I

State of Washington
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHNSON AYODEJI,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Eric Z. Lucas, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The evidence is insufficient to support several of the acts alleged to constitute child molestation.
- 2. The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that it must unanimously agree on the acts that constituted the child rape offenses.
- 3. The trial court erred in admitting ER 404(b) evidence for an improper purpose.
- 4. The trial court erred in admitting ER 404(b) evidence without conducting the requisite four-part balancing test.
- 5. The trial court erred in failing to give a limiting instruction on the ER 404(b) evidence.
- 6. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial when it purposefully played video evidence so only the jury could see without first conducting the five-part Bone-Club¹ test.
- 7. The trial court erred by imposing a discretionary domestic violence legal financial obligation (LFO) without first determining whether appellant had the current or future ability to pay.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. When several acts in a multiple acts case are not supported by sufficient evidence, and the court is unable to determine the acts upon

¹ State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

which the jury relied, must the court reverse the related convictions and dismiss the charges to avoid violating double jeopardy?

- 2. Where multiple acts of child rape were alleged, but the jury was not instructed it had to unanimously agree on the acts supporting the child rape convictions, was appellant prejudicially denied his right to a unanimous verdict on the three child rape charges?
- 3. The trial court admitted ER 404(b) evidence that appellant violated a no-contact order by sending his family a Christmas card after his arrest. Is reversal required when the court admitted this domestic violence evidence for an improper purpose and without first conducting the requisite four-part balancing test?
- 4. The trial court purposefully played video evidence so only the jury could view it. Did this courtroom closure violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?
- 5. Did the trial court fail to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed a discretionary domestic violence LFO without first considering appellant's current and future ability to pay?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Johnson Ayodeji with one count of first degree child rape (Count I) and two counts of first degree child molestation (Counts III and IV) of his daughter E.A., born January 8, 2001. CP 105-06. These

incidents were alleged to have occurred between January 8, 2006 and January 7, 2013. CP 105-06. The State also charged Ayodeji with one count of second degree child rape of E.A. (Count VII), alleged to have occurred between January 9, 2013 and May 17, 2013, after E.A. turned twelve. CP 105-06. The State further charged Ayodeji with one count of first degree child rape (Count II) and two counts of first degree child molestation (Counts V and VI) of his younger daughter F.A., born February 9, 2002. CP 105-06. These were alleged to have occurred between February 9, 2007 and May 17, 2013. CP 105-06.

1. <u>Pretrial Rulings</u>

Before trial, the State sought to admit a Christmas card Ayodeji sent his wife, R.A., and their children after he was arrested. 5RP 15-16.² Defense counsel objected, arguing it was not relevant and it was inadmissible as a collateral bad act. 5RP 16. The State agreed the Christmas card showed Ayodeji violated the no-contact order in place. 5RP 17. Nevertheless, the State argued the card was relevant "in explaining [R.A.]'s mind set, her role as the mother of the children, her role as kind of the driving force in reporting these incidents." 5RP 17. The State also believed

² This brief refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP – September 20, 2013; 2RP – May 8, 2014; 3RP – May 9, 2014; 4RP – July 21, 2014; 5RP – July 22, 2014; 6RP – July 23, 2014; 7RP – July 24, 2014; 8RP – July 25, 2014; 9RP – July 28, 2014; 10RP – July 29, 2014; 11RP – July 30, 2014; 12RP – July 31 and August 21, 2014.

the card showed Ayodeji's "attempts to manipulate and control [R.A.] and through her the children -- she is not to question him. She is to stand by him and forgive him. They are not to air their dirty laundry in public." 5RP 18-19. The trial court admitted the Christmas card for "the cultural aspect and the affect on the witness." 5RP 19; Ex. 65.

2. R.A.'s Testimony

R.A. testified at trial that she and Ayodeji met in Nigeria and married there in September 1998. 7RP 22-23, 32-33. Ayodeji moved to the United States the following month and R.A. moved to Canada shortly thereafter because she could not enter the United States. 7RP 32-33. R.A. later entered the United States and E.A. was born while they lived in Chicago. 7RP 34. Ayodeji joined the Navy and they moved to Oak Harbor, Washington, where F.A. was born. 7RP 35-38. The family then moved to Everett, Washington. 7RP 38.

R.A. testified that around 2004, she and Ayodeji separated, and she moved into a domestic violence shelter with the girls. 7RP 43-44. R.A. said Ayodeji then stalked them from shelter to shelter. 7RP 43-44. In 2005, however, R.A. explained she moved back in with Ayodeji because she had nowhere else to go, and she subsequently had twins with Ayodeji. 7RP 45.

R.A. said that in September 2008, on a Sunday morning before church, F.A. told her Ayodeji touched her and E.A.'s private parts. 7RP 54-

55; 8RP 30-31. When asked, E.A. agreed Ayodeji touched her, but refused to talk more about it. 7RP 56. R.A. immediately reported this to Child Protective Services (CPS). 7RP 55-59; 8RP 28. CPS questioned R.A. about whether she was using her children to get rid of Ayodeji, and did not investigate further. 7RP 58-59; 8RP 30-31.

R.A. then said that on Thanksgiving Day 2009, she caught E.A. and F.A. performing oral sex on each other. 7RP 65-67. E.A. refused to talk about it, but F.A. said "daddy did that." 7RP 67-68. R.A. reported this to their counselor, who met with the girls. 7RP 68-73. F.A. told the counselor Ayodeji "did that to us" in the computer room, but E.A. again refused to talk about it. 7RP 74. The counselor reported this to CPS. 7RP 75; 8RP 25-36. CPS investigated and interviewed the girls, but ultimately dropped the case because the girls were uncooperative. 7RP 75-78; 8RP 40.

R.A. and her children did not hear from Ayodeji for almost two years after the charges were dropped. 7RP 79. However, Ayodeji called R.A. during the holidays in 2011 and told her he was living in California. 7RP 82-85. He returned to Washington to help the family move into a new house in Everett. 7RP 84, 91. Ayodeji left again for another year. 7RP 92-95. Around this time, E.A. and F.A. told their mother what they wrote in their diaries about Ayodeji touching them was not true. 7RP 85-86, 102-03. F.A.

explained they made it up because they were mad at Ayodeji because he was not living with them. 7RP 105.

Then, in 2012, Ayodeji returned and R.A. allowed him to visit the family, and he began spending the night more often. 7RP 92-95. Ayodeji moved back in with the family in early 2013. 7RP 97-98. R.A. testified there were still red flags, though. 7RP 108-09. For instance, Ayodeji showed her a video on his phone of E.A. masturbating. 7RP 108-09.

R.A. then testified that on May 17, 2013, she caught Ayodeji having sex with F.A. 7RP 121-25. R.A. said she woke up in the middle of the night and Ayodeji was not in bed. 7RP 123-24. She went downstairs and found Ayodeji in F.A.'s room on top of F.A., "making sexual motions," and kissing F.A.'s face. 7RP 128-29. R.A. remembered Ayodeji was wearing boxers and the hole in the front was wet. 7RP 128-30. R.A. said she screamed, Ayodeji jumped up, and started exclaiming, "my life, my life, my life." 7RP 130. Ayodeji explained he was only hugging F.A., telling R.A. his penis was not even erect. 7RP 130-31. When R.A. asked the girls why they did not tell her, they said "that is just what daddy normally does." 7RP 133. R.A. called the police shortly thereafter. 7RP 135-36.

3. <u>F.A.'s and E.A.'s Testimony</u>

F.A. also testified to the incident on May 17, 2013. 8RP 78-82. She remembered hearing her father walk downstairs, and then "he gets on my

bed and he gets all touchy." 8RP 82-83. She explained Ayodeji moved her legs open and she felt his penis inside her vagina. 8RP 84-89. F.A. told child interview specialist Gina Coslett she had her clothes on during this incident, but testified at trial she was naked. 8RP 136-37; 9RP 54-55.

F.A. testified that similar incidents happened in Ayodeji's bedroom, her bedroom, and once or twice in E.A.'s bedroom. 8RP 86, 112-13, 119-21, 125-26. F.A. said these occurred after Ayodeji moved in with them around E.A.'s birthday in January 2013. 8RP 109. She could not remember the frequency with which they occurred. 8RP 118. F.A. previously told Coslett the incidents with her father did not happen in any other room besides her bedroom. 8RP 138.

F.A. also testified Ayodeji touched her "upper parts," but said these parts would not be covered by a bra if she was wearing one. 8RP 121-23. She could not provide any further description. 8RP 121-23. F.A. testified Ayodeji used his mouth on her upper parts and her lips, but she told Coslett that Ayodeji never used his mouth on her. 8RP 123, 140. F.A. also wrote a police statement where she described using lotion to "make his dick hard" with her hand. 8RP 104, 112-14. She said this happened more than once, but could not remember how many times. 8RP 120-21.

In a letter to her mother, F.A. wrote, "Yes daddy did touch me. What I was touched with his butt not his hand. [Where] I was in bed he was on top

of me...I did not feel right." 7RP 142-44; Ex. 70. F.A. could not remember when she wrote the letter, but thought it might be sometime after her eleventh birthday in February 2013. 8RP 144-45.

E.A. testified Ayodeji started touching her when the family lived in YWCA housing, when she was about seven or eight years old. 8RP 167. She remembered the touching occurred in the living room and the computer room. 8RP 180. The State introduced a letter E.A. wrote to R.A. around the same time. 8RP 181-83; Ex. 71. E.A. wrote "he would touch me in the butt and my bubs [sic]," and put his "dick in my butt." 8RP 183-84; Ex. 71. At trial, E.A. said Ayodeji used his hands to touch her breasts, but could not remember what he used to touch her buttocks. 8RP 184. Nor could E.A. remember whether "butt" meant her vagina or her anus. 8RP 185.

E.A. testified Ayodeji also touched her while living at the family's current home. 8RP 171-73. She testified Ayodeji touched her with his penis, but could not remember where on her body. 8RP 172-80. E.A. said this occurred downstairs in her room and the computer room, and upstairs in Ayodeji's room. 8RP 175. E.A. testified it happened more than once, after her father moved in with the family around her twelfth birthday in January 2013. 8RP 175-76. E.A. also told Coslett that Ayodeji made her have sex with him when he returned from California. 8RP 187-88. But E.A.

explained this touching was "different" than what happened at their old YWCA apartment. 8RP 175-80.

On cross-examination, defense counsel introduced an interview with E.A. where she said she was uncertain whether she actually remembered the incidents or only remembered what people told her about them. 8RP 193-94. E.A. said her memory was "kind of from stories." 8RP 194. E.A. also told the defense investigator that Ayodeji gave her money after the May 17th incident, but testified at trial he never did. 8RP 195-96. E.A. agreed both of these statements could not be true. 8RP 196.

On re-direct, at the prosecutor's urging, E.A. testified for the first time that Ayodeji put his penis in her vagina. 8RP 205. First she said she could not remember when this occurred or where the family lived at the time. 8RP 205. Then she said she remembered it happening only at the family's current home, but was uncertain whether it happened before or after she turned 12. 8RP 206-07.

4. <u>Child Hearsay Testimony</u>³

CPS investigator Stacy Lowry interviewed the girls on January 10, 2010. 6RP 18-19. Lowry testified at trial that she attempted to speak with E.A. about the alleged abuse, but E.A. immediately hid her face and said she

³ This testimony was admitted at a pretrial hearing pursuant to RCW 9A.44.120. 4RP 19-192.

did not want to talk about it. 6RP 22-25. However, E.A. then told Lowry the "stuff with her dad" happened in the computer room. 6RP 23-24. E.A. said she would lie down on the floor and Ayodeji would get on top of her and use his hands underneath her underwear. 6RP 24-25. On a stick figure, E.A. circled the crotch area to indicate where Ayodeji touched her. 6RP 26-27. Lowry testified, though, that F.A. would not talk about the alleged abuse, and instead "grabbed the inside of her crotch and just grabbed and cupped her crotch area." 6RP 29.

Child forensic interviewer Amanda Harpell-Franz also spoke with the girls on January 29, 2010. 6RP 99-101, 108-11. E.A. refused to talk about any of the alleged abuse. 6RP 112-13. F.A., however, wrote down on a piece of paper "sex." 7RP 7-11; Ex. 68. F.A. told Harpell-Franz this also happened to E.A. 7RP 11-12. F.A. said Ayodeji touched her with his fingers on top of her clothes, but did not remember where on her body. 7RP 13-14, 17. On a drawing of a person, F.A. circled the hand to indicate how Ayodeji touched her. 7RP 13-14, Ex. 68.

5. Forensic Examinations

The girls underwent a sexual assault examination on February 1, 2010. 6RP 43-44, 51-52. F.A. told the nurse she did not remember any sexual touching by their father and E.A. denied any abuse. 6RP 46-47, 57-

58. Neither girl showed any signs of sexual abuse, such as damaged hymen tissue. 6RP 50-52, 57-58.

The girls underwent another sexual assault examination on May 17, 2013. 9RP 37, 44-45. Though F.A. was reluctant to allow the exam, the nurse did not see any signs of sexual abuse. 9RP 38-43. The nurse took oral and perineal vulvar swabs from F.A., and collected F.A.'s underwear for DNA testing. 9RP 43. No semen, saliva, or male DNA was detected on any of the swabs or F.A.'s underwear. 9RP 90-92.

The nurse also did not observe any signs E.A. had been sexually abused, and E.A. told the nurse she was a virgin. 9RP 51-52. The nurse collected E.A.'s underwear and the sanitary napkin she was wearing, as well as oral and perineal vulvar swabs. 9RP 47-49. No semen or saliva was detected. 9RP 93-94. Forensic scientist Lisa Yoshida found male DNA on E.A.'s perineal vulvar swab, but was unable to develop a meaningful DNA profile. 9RP 94.

There was also partial male "touch" DNA on E.A.'s sanitary napkin. 9RP 94, 100. Touch DNA is usually transferred from the skin by handling an object. 9RP 112. There is no way to determine where on the individual's

body the DNA came from. 9RP 113. Using YSTR testing,⁴ Yoshida concluded the partial male profile matched Ayodeji's DNA profile, and the match was not expected to occur more frequently than one in 3,500 men in the United States. 9RP 100-01. However, none of Ayodeji's paternal male relatives could be excluded as possible matches. 9RP 108.

6. Police Investigation

Detective Sally Van Beek testified regarding her investigation and arrest of Ayodeji. 10RP 6-8, 22. She spoke with the girls on June 5, 2013, at which time F.A. told her E.A. said Ayodeji used his cell phone to video E.A. performing oral sex on him. 10RP 23-24. When Van Beek arrested Ayodeji, she seized the cell phone on his person and obtained a search warrant for it. 9RP 129-30, 160; 10RP 22-25. Van Beek also explained that R.A. gave her two micro SD cards that R.A. claimed she found in Ayodeji's car using a spare key. 7RP 148-49; 10RP 27-28.

Digital imaging specialist Traci Youmans searched the SIMM card from Ayodeji's seized cell phone. 9RP 157, 166-67, 174. She recovered several deleted photos of an adult male with his penis exposed and a girl's hand on his penis. 9RP 167, 172-73. Youmans was unable to recover any corresponding dates for these images. 9RP 176-77. R.A. identified E.A. in

⁴ The standard DNA test is referred to as STR (short tandem repeat). 9RP 94. A YSTR test focuses only on the male Y-chromosome, and was used here because of the large amount of female DNA on E.A.'s sanitary napkin. 9RP 94, 98.

the photos, and also identified Ayodeji based on his underwear and his private parts. 7RP 150-51. However, E.A. told Coslett that Ayodeji never took photos of her. 9RP 81-82.

Detective Chris Roberts also searched the micro SD cards R.A. said she found in Ayodeji's car. 9RP 118. He recovered a deleted video created on May 8, 2013, which depicted E.A. performing oral sex on a man, but it did not show the man's face. 5RP 47; 7RP 150-51; 9RP 129-33; 11RP 36. E.A. testified Ayodeji took a video of her on his phone in her room. 8RP 177-80. The State played the video for the jury. 9RP 148-52. In doing so, the State purposefully faced the television away from the courtroom gallery so only the jury could see it. 5RP 47; 9RP 104-06, 150. Defense counsel pointed out this could present a public trial issue. 9RP 106.

7. <u>Ayodeji's Testimony</u>

Ayodeji denied ever sexually assaulting his daughters. 10RP 54-55. He explained R.A. fabricated the allegations because of several incidents that turned her against him. First, R.A. carried a grudge against him because he failed to complete the proper paperwork for her to enter the United States from Nigeria. 10RP 70. This was consistent with R.A.'s testimony that she had to live in Canada before she could enter the United States. 7RP 32-33. R.A. also fabricated the domestic violence between her and Ayodeji so she could attain a green card. 10RP 77-78. Ayodeji further explained he

defaulted on a loan from R.A.'s family, and so she always resented him. 10RP 74-75, 151-52. Ayodeji explained that R.A. brainwashed the girls and staged the video with E.A. to get back at him. 10RP 149; 11RP 43-44.

Ayodeji also described an incident where F.A. was sitting on his lap watching a movie when R.A. entered the room. 10RP 120-21. R.A. told him not to let F.A. do that because F.A. "will make up any story" and "will misinterpret anything." 10RP 120-21. For instance, F.A. wrote in her school journal she was pregnant and about to have a baby. 10RP 129-30. Likewise, Ayodeji explained that on May 17, 2013, he was simply laying in bed in F.A., holding her because she could not fall asleep. 10RP 138.

The court gave a unanimity instruction on the molestation charges:

The State alleges that the defendant committed multiple acts of Child Molestation in the First Degree on multiple occasions. To convict the defendant on any count of Child Molestation in the First Degree, one particular act of Child Molestation in the First Degree must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved. You need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of Child Molestation in the First Degree.

CP 72. The court did not give a unanimity instruction on the first or second degree child rape charges. See CP 63-95.

The jury found Ayodeji guilty on all counts. CP 48-61. The jury also returned special verdicts finding E.A., F.A., and Ayodeji were family members, and the crimes were part of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse.

CP 48-61. Ayodeji received an indeterminate sentence of 486 months, 168 months above the standard range. CP 10-13. Ayodeji appeals. CP 8.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. DOUBLE JEOPARDY REQUIRES REVERSAL AND DISMISSAL OF AYODEJI'S CONVICTIONS ON COUNTS V AND VI BECAUSE THERE IS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT SOME OF THE MULTIPLE ACTS ALLEGED.

Ayodeji was charged and convicted of two counts of first degree child molestation of F.A., counts V and VI. CP 51-53, 79-80, 105-06. These charges were based on multiple alleged acts. Some of the acts are supported by substantial evidence, for the purposes of the sufficiency standard of review. However, other acts are insufficient to sustain a molestation conviction.

The trial court properly instructed the jury it had to unanimously agree as to which acts of molestation had been proved. CP 72. Because courts presume jurors follow the trial court's instructions, Ayodeji does not dispute the verdicts on the two molestation counts were unanimous. State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184 (2001). Rather, the issue is the appropriate remedy given that several distinct acts of molesting F.A. do not sufficiently support Ayodeji's convictions. Because we do not know which acts the jury relied on, any retrial on the two molestation charges would place Ayodeji twice in jeopardy for the same offenses. To ensure the State

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