72359-6

72359-6

FILED December 18, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72359-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOHNSON O. AYODEJI,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

MARA J. ROZZANO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

1. The Convictions For Counts V And Vi Of First Degree Child Molestation Should Not Be Overturned Based On Testimony Of Other Acts Of The Defendant That Did Not Amount To Child Molestation When There Was Ample Evidence To Support The Convictions And The Jury Was Properly Instructed On The Law Including Unanimity.

In a case where the evidence indicates that several distinct criminal acts were committed, but the defendant is only charged with one count of criminal conduct, "a unanimous verdict will be assured if either (1) the State elects the act upon which it will rely for conviction, or (2) the jury is instructed that all 12 jurors must agree that the same underlying criminal act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Stark</u>, 48 Wn. App. 245, 251, 738 P.2d 684 (1987). The defendant does not argue that the jury was not properly instructed on the law regarding child molestation. The defendant concedes the jury was also properly instructed on unanimity. The defendant argues that because the jury did not specify which acts it relied upon to convict the defendant, it may have relied upon acts that did not support the conviction. BOA at 15-16.

The State was required to prove each element of each count of first degree child molestation beyond a reasonable doubt. A person commits the crime of first degree child molestation when the

person has sexual contact with another person who is less than 12 years, and the perpetrator is not married to the victim and is at least 36 months older than the victim. RCW 9A.44.083. The jury was properly instructed on the elements of first degree child molestation and unanimity. CP 72, 77-80. The court instructed the jurors regarding the definition of "sexual contact" as "Sexual contact means any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desires of either party." CP 81. The defendant does not contend that this definition is not legally sufficient.

The defendant concedes that some of the acts are supported by substantial evidence. BOA at 15. For example, F.A.'s testified that on multiple occasions, the defendant made her "make his dick hard" with her hand. 7/25/14 RP 112-14.

The defendant contends, however, that from the several acts of physical contact presented at trial, the jurors could have erroneously relied on an act that did not amount to sexual contact as defined. BOA at 18. The defendant argues that because the jury did not specify which acts it relied upon to convict him, this court cannot be sure it did not rely upon one of the acts for which there was not sufficient evidence. This is precisely the argument in

<u>State v. Stark</u>, supra. In <u>Stark</u>, the defendant was charged with one count of statutory rape based upon three contacts. The jury heard testimony regarding the three acts. Two of the acts met the definition of sexual intercourse and one did not. Stark, like the defendant here, argued the court could not be certain the jury did not rely on the act that was insufficient to support his conviction. <u>Stark</u>, 48 Wn. App. 251, 738 P.2d 684.

Because jurors are assumed to follow the instructions of the court, the court's instruction that defined sexual contact is assumed to have been followed. <u>State v. Willis</u>, 67 Wn.2d 681, 409 P.2d 669 (1966). Therefore, the jury could not have relied on any act that did not meet the definition of sexual contact.

2. The Invited Error Doctrine Precludes The Defendant From Seeking Appellate Review Of The Court's Failure To Include The Child Rape Charges In The Unanimity Instruction.

The invited error doctrine is a strict rule that precludes a criminal defendant from seeking appellate review of an error he helped create, even when the alleged error involves constitutional rights. <u>State v. Studd</u>, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546–47, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999). The invited error doctrine applies where the defendant engages in some affirmative action by which he knowingly and voluntarily set up the error. <u>State v. Corbett</u>, 158 Wn. App. 576,

592, 242 P.3d 52, 59 (2010). This doctrine applies to alleged failures to provide a Petrich unanimity jury instruction. "[W]e held that where the defendant proposed jury instructions that did not include a <u>Petrich</u> instruction, the invited error doctrine precluded him from challenging on appeal for the first time the trial court's failure to provide a <u>Petrich</u> unanimity instruction: <u>State v. Carson</u>, 179 Wn. App. 961, 973, 320 P.3d 185, 190 (2014) <u>aff'd. on other grounds</u>, 184 Wn.2d 207, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015).

Here, the defendant proposed only one jury instruction regarding the weight and credibility to be given to any alleged out of court statements of the defendant. CP 96-98. The defendant did not propose a <u>Petrich</u> unanimity instruction. During the discussion of the proposed instructions, the defendant specifically addressed the unanimity instruction. The defendant did not request that the child rape charges be included in the instruction but did request the court include language in the 'to convict' instructions to clarify that the state had to prove an act separate and distinct from the act relied upon in the other offenses as to each victim. The court followed that proposal and clarified each 'to convict' instruction. The defendant then affirmatively agreed to the <u>Petrich</u> instruction that excluded the child rape charges and the court's other

instructions to the jury. 7/30/14 RP 3-12. When the final packet of instructions was prepared, the court formally went through the instructions and requested objections and exceptions. The defendant did not object or except to any instruction. 7/30/14 RP 47-54. Through his participation in the discussion regarding the proposed <u>Petrich</u> instruction, the defendant knowingly and voluntarily set up the error.

It can be legitimate trial strategy to not seek a <u>Petrich</u> instruction. <u>Carson</u>, 184 Wn.2d at 218, 357 P.3d 1064. Clearly, the defendant raised an issue with regard to the confusion the Petrich instruction could create based on the many different counts charged. The defendant chose to clarify the <u>Petrich</u> instruction and its application to the multiple counts of child molestation and how they related to the each other and the counts of child rape, but did not request the child rape charges be included in the unanimity instruction. Since the evidence of the child rape offenses was very strong, the video tape and the eye witness account of R.A. in addition to the testimony of F.A. and E.A., it was a reasonable trial strategy for the defendant, similarly to the defendant in <u>Carson</u>, to not want the child rape charges included in the Petrich instruction.

3. The Jury Instructions As A Whole Properly Instructed The Jury Of Its Duty To Unanimity.

Here, the two separate "to-convict" instructions for first degree child rape and one "to-convict" instruction for second rape of a child listed all the required elements of the alleged crimes. The trial court instructed the jury that "[a] separate crime is charged in each count," that each count should be decided separately, and that verdicts for one count should not influence verdicts on any other count. CP at 71. The trial court also instructed the jury that "Because this is a criminal case, each of you must agree for you to return a verdict." CP at 85. Read together, the jury instructions accurately informed the jury that it must decide each count separately and that its verdicts must be unanimous.

Furthermore, the prosecutor emphasized the unanimity requirement for all seven counts. During his closing argument, the prosecutor addressed Instruction number 7, the <u>Petrich</u> instruction. CP 72. He brought the jury's attention to the instruction and talked about the testimony from the girls saying, "there's a lot more than seven different instances of sexual abuse alleged." 7/30/14 66 at lines 1-2. The prosecutor goes on to say, "So we have evidence to support a lot more than seven charges. So the problem that

creates, you as jurors, with your collective experience and notes from trial and paying attention to what was presented, begin deliberating, you need to make sure that all of you are talking about the same act, the same description of conduct for each of the charges." 7/30/14 RP 65-66.

The jury was properly instructed to decide each count separately and that they must be unanimous, including to the act supporting the verdict, to reach a verdict. The defendant was not denied his right to a unanimous verdict.

4. Even If The Failure To Include The Child Rape Offenses In The <u>Petrich</u> Instruction Does Not Fall Under The Invited Error Doctrine, And The Instructions Were Not Sufficient, The Error Was Harmless.

Failure of the court to follow the rule in <u>Workman</u> and <u>Petrich</u> is violative of a defendant's state constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict and United States constitutional right to a jury trial. When error occurs during a trial the jury verdict will be affirmed only if that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d 60, 64, 794 P.2d 850, 852 (1990) (citing <u>State v. Workman</u>, 66 Wash. 292, 119 P. 751 (1911) and <u>State v. Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984)).

In <u>Camarillo</u>, the defendant did not request that the State elect which act it relied upon for conviction, not did the defendant request a unanimity instruction. <u>Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 63. The victim testified to three different sexual abuse incidents to support one count of indecent liberties. <u>Id.</u>, at 66–68. The defendant did not dispute the specifics of any one incident, but instead offered only a general denial that he had abused the victim. The Supreme Court held the error was harmless, noting that the jury had to believe either the victim's story or the defendant's story. Id. at 72.

Similarly, in <u>State v. Allen</u>, the defendant was convicted of indecent liberties based on the testimony of a child victim. The victim in Allen testified that almost every day for a period of time the defendant would touch her in an inappropriate way. He might kiss her, touch her between the legs over her clothing or under her clothing, put her hand on his penis, or touch her chest. The defendant did not challenge any specific incidents, but issued only a general denial. The State failed to elect which act it was relying upon, and the trial court did not give a unanimity instruction. The court held the failure to give the instruction was harmless, because again, the jury's choice was to either believe the defendant or

believe the victim. <u>State v. Allen</u>, 57 Wn. App. 134, 136-9, 788 P.2d 1084 (1990).

In other words, if a juror believed beyond a reasonable doubt that one act occurred, that juror would then necessarily believe that the others occurred as well. <u>State v. Bobenhouse</u>, 143 Wn. App. 315, 328, 177 P.3d 209, 215 (2008) aff'd, 166 Wn.2d 881, 214 P.3d 907 (2009).

The defendant claims that the testimony of the victims in this case was vague and inconsistent and their credibility was undercut at trial. The defendant points to E.A.'s obviously reluctance to use the words for what the defendant did to her during trial, likening it to the testimony in <u>Petrich</u> and <u>Kitchen</u>. BOA 24-5. This disregards the corroborating evidence in this case. Not only was there a video of the defendant making E.A. perform oral sex on him, but there was also the eye witness account of F.A. regarding times when the defendant would engage in sexual acts with her and E.A. together. "Well, when it was me and E.A., he would do it to us together and I would see it." 7/25/14 RP 125-6. The defendant claims F.A. credibility was called in question on a number of incidents. BOA 27. However, the record does not support these claims. When F.A. was asked on cross-examination about telling Ms. Coslett the

incidents did not happen anywhere except in her bedroom, F.A. responded by pointing out her response was to a very specific question. The defendant's trial attorney stopped F.A. as she was explaining that her answer was only to the question of when the defendant was on top "not to anywhere like I wasn't on my knees or anything else." 7/25/14 RP 138. The defendant also claims F.A. was impeached because she told Ms. Coslett the defendant never used his mouth on her but testified at trial that he did. BOA 27. However, the question was, "Did you ever tell [Ms. Coslett] that he does anything with his mouth to you?" and her answer was "no". 7/25/14 RP 140.

The defense to these charges was general denial. The defendant did not indicate that he had inadvertently touched the girls at some point or any other explanation for any of the multitude of instances of sexual abuse presented during the trial. The sole defense was to say the victims were fabricating the allegations. It is solely for the jury to determine the credibility of the witnesses at trial. As an initial matter, regardless of whether inconsistencies exist in [the victim]'s statements, we defer to the trier of fact, here the jury, on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. <u>State v. Corbett</u>, 158 Wn.

App. 576, 589, 242 P.3d 52, 58 (2010). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal. <u>State v.</u> <u>Casbeer</u>, 48 Wn. App. 539, 542, 740 P.2d 335, <u>review denied</u>, 109 Wn.2d 1008 (1987). <u>Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 71, 794 P.2d 850.

Given the totality of the circumstances in this trial, the failure to include the rape of a child counts in the <u>Petrich</u> instruction was harmless error.

5. The Trial Court Properly Admitted The Christmas Card As ER 404(B) Evidence.

A trial court's admission of evidence under Rule 404(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. DeVincentis</u>, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003).

For evidence of prior bad acts to be admissible, a trial judge must "(1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect. <u>State v.</u> <u>Gunderson</u>, 181 Wn.2d 916, 923, 337 P.3d 1090, 1093 (2014) A trial court has wide discretion in ruling on the admissibility of evidence. A decision to admit or exclude evidence will not be

reversed on appeal absent abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Demery</u>, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001).

In a motion in limine, the State moved to admit a Christmas letter from the defendant sent to R.A. at her residence with the alleged victims. The defendant objected on the grounds that it was not relevant and it was a violation of a no contact order and therefore a collateral bad act. The State also pointed out that the letter was potentially grounds for charging the defendant with witness tampering, but that he was not going to do that. The State argued the letter was relevant to explain R.A.'s mind set, her role as the mother of E.A. and F.A. and as the driving force in reporting these incidents. As an offer of proof, the state offered R.A.'s response during her interview by the defense. R.A. said in her culture, they "met in Nigeria, part of a fairly strict religious community, a patriarchal community, with some mores and standards about a marital relationship." 7/22/14 RP 18. R.A. said that in their culture, in their church, husband and wife are together no matter what. There is no such thing as divorce. There is no such thing as separation. And framing that mind set is a significant amount of religious Christian doctrine. The State pointed out that the content of the letter was a constant appeal to that very

foundation, talking about what the Bible directs her to do and to offer forgiveness, talking about the defendant being delivered, God's plan for them, etc. 7/22/14 RP 18. The letter would help the jury in understanding the cultural circumstances of the witness and therefore in assessing her credibility. The court ruled that for the cultural aspect and the affect on the witness, the letter was admissible. 7/22/15 RP 19. The court properly sought the purpose of the evidence, ruled on the relevance and determined it was more probative than prejudicial for that purpose.

The letter was a communication by the defendant to the key witnesses in the case attempting to get them to forgive him and drop the charges as they had done before. Evidence that the defendant attempted to induce the key complaining witnesses to recant or end the prosecution against him, is a circumstance that can reasonably be considered to be consistent with guilty knowledge and therefore admissible in trial under ER 404(b). <u>State v. Sanders</u>, 66 Wn. App. 878, 886, 833 P.2d 452, 457 (1992).

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